WESTON-SUPER- MARE TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES OF THE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL ON MONDAY 24th JULY 2023

Meeting Commenced: 7.00 pm

Meeting Concluded: 8. 52 pm

PRESENT: Councillors Ciaran Cronnelly (Town Mayor), Marc Aplin, Ray Armstrong, Roger Bailey, Gill Bute, Joe Bambridge, John Carson, Annabelle Chard, James Clayton, Jemma Coles, Peter Crew, Catherine Gibbons, Simon Harrison-Morse, James Owen, Hugh Malyan, Robert Payne, Alan Peak, Marcia Pepperall, Lisa Pilgrim, Caroline Reynolds, Robert Skeen, John Standfield, Timothy Taylor, Helen Thornton, Richard Tucker, Charles Williams and Martin Williams.

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE : Malcolm Nicholson (Town Clerk), Fay Powell (Assistant Town Clerk – Operational Services), Samantha Bishop (Committee Officer/Manager), Molly Maher (Senior Development Officer), Becky Walsh (Communications Officer), Chief Inspector Jonathon Murray, Sergeant Jemma Harper (Avon & Somerset Police), Ray Green (Worle History Society) and Joanne Nicholson (Read Easy NS).

The Town Mayor invited members of the public to address the council.

Ray Green addressed the council on behalf of Worle History Society and extended a warm invitation from the Chairman to all Worle ward Councillors to their open day on a date to be decided, subject to availability. Councillors ' availabilities were varied and so Worle History Society were encouraged to set a date and issue to Councillors.

Joanne Nicholson addressed the council on behalf of Read Easy North Somerset and thanked them for their previous grant funding. The grant had allowed the service to build up and extend out further into NS. Joanne reported that sadly, there were a significant amount of people who had fallen through the net of the educational system and were illiterate. As a teacher, she had a passion for this and explained that the council could help in other ways by sourcing either reading coaches who could give $2x \frac{1}{2}$ hour session s per week, or by identifying readers in need of support with their communities and referring them to Read Easy.

89 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutions

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mike Bell, Mark Canniford, John Crockford-Hawley, Justyna Pecak-Michalowicz, Helen Thornton and Tim Taylor.

90 To receive Declarations of Interest

There were none received.

91 To approve the accuracy of the Minutes of the Annual Council Meeting & Ceremony of Mayor Making held on the 18th May 2023

The minutes had been previously circulated.

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Alan Peak **SECONDED BY:** Councillor Catherine Gibbons

| | RESOLVED: That the minutes be approved and signed by the Chairman as a true record of the meeting. | | | | | | | |
|----|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 92 | To receive announcements and communications from The Town Mayor | | | | | | | |
| | The Mayor 's announcements and communications had been circulated prior to the meeting. | | | | | | | |
| | The Mayor reported that he had had a w hirlwind 9 weeks in post and thanked his Deputy Mayor for his support. | | | | | | | |
| | There had been 54 engagements attended by the Mayor, 3 by the Deputy Mayor ; which was a total of 57 to date. | | | | | | | |
| | Significant events were: | | | | | | | |
| | <u>10th June-40 Commando Freedom of The Town</u> The Mayor had written to the unit and would be presenting them with a framed picture w 31 st July. <u>27th June-2nd July Hildesheim visit</u> The Mayor had written a thank you letter translated into German and a return visit w planned for December. <u>15th July Castle Batch SEN Park opening</u> An incredible proud moment for the Town Council. | | | | | | | |
| | RESOLVED: That the report be noted. | | | | | | | |
| 93 | To receive the Notes of the Youth Council Meeting | | | | | | | |
| | The notes of the Youth Council Meeting held in February & June 2023 had been previously circulated. | | | | | | | |
| | It was noted that their next meeting was planned for September. | | | | | | | |
| | RESOLVED: That the notes be received. | | | | | | | |
| 94 | Neighbourhood and Response Policing in Weston-Super-Mare | | | | | | | |
| | The Town Mayor welcomed and invited Chief Inspector Jonathon Murray and Sergeant Gemma Harper to address the meeting who reported on the following areas: | | | | | | | |
| | The Chief Inspector introduced himself and reported that he had been in post for 3 weeks. He was responsible for 6 teams across North Somerset (NS) which consisted of 26 police officers and 40 PCSO's. | | | | | | | |
| | The previous year's Summer holidays had seen a 40% increase in emergency response and the Police force were experiencing what they called 'growing pains' as lots of work slows down on street policing to support emergency response. | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | slows down on street policing to support emergency response. | | | | | | | |

other areas of NS. Reporting mechanisms confidence had improved and the force were trying their best to tackle keeping close eye. A positive outcome was a 1.2% increase in court cases.

Social Media was used to target crime. i.e. The London - Cannabis Farm. There were links to organised crime here and wider harm i.e. victims of modern-day slavery.

Operation Scorpion – Drugs & organised crime in NSC had 3.6m Cannabis ceased.

South West organised crime 'Clear hole build ' military term – working with partners on this.

NSC – App street safe had been released 2 years ago and referrals were building.

A question and answer session then took place.

In response to a question, the Chief Inspector reported that the Police were looking to revitalise the 'Ask Angela' concept as referrals had not been significant.

Also, the Street Safe App could also be a good tool to target racism.

a question re the Police 's stance on dealing with travellers and In response to unauthorised encampments, the Chief Inspector explained that this was c hallenging and complex. The current legislation was dated and the Home Office guidance was that it required a multi-agency approach, led by the local authority and supported by the Police. It was a key issue nationally and the National Police Chief s' Council say that this is because of a lack of space for these travellers to camp. Damage, destruction or distress were the key word s n legislation. A further piece of legislation last year had been impactive. The travelling community is protected under article 8 of the Human Rights Act, for the Police to balance against this legislation and all actions need to be proportionate. The local authority needs to act first, the n the police can support them to remove an encampment. This can become complicated as there are often other factors involved such as children, animals and caravans which were people's homes to consider.

It was noted that shoplifting in Worle had reduced since the arrest of a ringleader and that street lighting and overgrown walkways were causing problems with street safety. NSC will need to do something to address this.

The Chief Inspector confirmed that the start date for Operation Hibiscus was hoped to be brought forward with an end date in September 2023.

The Town Mayor thanked for their report and he left at 7. 52 pm

95 To consider the value of membership of NALC and ALCA

A presentation from Justin Griggs and Councillors Mike Drew and Paul Harvey outlining the National Association of Local Councils & Avon Local Councils Association offer the Town Council was made. This included:

- Advice, guidance and resources exclusive in members' area of NALC website
- Legal and financial topic notes, briefings and financial briefings including standing orders, financial regulations and practitioner's advice
- Toolkits/guides on subjects including data protection, employment, planning, social media and finance
- Working with the Society of Local Council Clerks (SLCC) and others on sector

improvement and good governance. 5000 clerks had gained the Certificate in Local Council Administration, 700+ councils had achieved the Local Council Award Scheme

- Training and development for councillors via county associations, including elearning
- Larger councils get direct access to legal, financial and a new HR advice service
- A wide range of networks to connect councils/councillors and share good practice eg. for coastal communities, climate emergency, women councillors, young councillors
- Monthly online events including with national service supplier partners attended by 1,000s of councillors each year
- NALC's model standing orders, model financial regulations and Good Councillor Guides being updated and available exclusively to member councils
- NALC/Local Government Association (LGA) Peer Challenge exclusive to larger councils in membership of NALC

Their "ask" was for the council to get involved and help make change and they concluded by offering a special deal:

- NALC fee via formula of 7.71p per elector £4,800, but capped at £1,978 (2023/24), waive until renewal 2024/5 financial year so £0
- Avon county association fee £600
- Access to Associate Membership of LGA £500, waive for 2023/24 so £0
- 2024 study tour is to Yate Town Council, cost around £250 offer 1 free place, so £0
- NALC online events £30, offer free places so £0
- Invitation to NALC parliamentary reception in November 2023
- Bespoke induction day at NALC office in London or remote

Some new members felt unequipped to decide having had no information in advance and enquired as to what provision the council had in place for HR and H&S. The Town Clerk informed that the council had HR & H&S support from South West Councils and employment law help from Worknest but made the distinction that NALC was councillor led.

In response to a question regarding accessing services and in particular local conferences, Councillor Paul Harvey advised that before the pandemic, a national conference had been held annually and these opportunities were now starting to get going again. As members, the council could request more conferences to be here in the South West, however online sessions were available to any Councillors.

The Leader and another member had met with Justin, Mike and Paul earlier that day to discuss the value of the membership. Historically Councillors had not seen the need to join as members but due to the cap on the first year of the membership, he recommended joining, subject to further consideration and final decision by Policy & Finance Committee.

The notice period for leaving was 1 year and the m embership fee would be due from 1st April 2024. The ALCA membership cap was still to be determined but Councillor Paul Harvey would recommend that WSM have this capped for the first year, saving £6-700.

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Peter Crew **SECONDED BY:** Councillor Alan Peak

A vote was taken and accordingly it was **carried.** (17for 6ab).

| | RESOLVED: To a ccept in principle the offer from NALC/ALCA to become members, subject to scrutiny by the Policy & Finance Committee on the 14 th August 2023 which was authorised to make the final decision to join. |
|----|---|
| 96 | To approve Committee Membership Changes |
| | The item had been requested by members. The current Committee Membership was viewed on the screen by members. |
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Alan Peak SECONDED BY: Councillor Gill Bute |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried . |
| | RESOLVED: That Councillor Harrison-Morse take the vacancy on the Planning Committee and Councillor Catherine Gibbons take the vacancy on the Bristol Airport Consultative Committee. |
| 97 | Proposed changes to Standing Orders |
| | The recommendations from the Policy & Finance Committee 17 th April 2023 had been previously circulated. |
| | The Town Clerk gave the background and process behind the recommendations for the benefit of new members. |
| | It was questioned that the recommendation stated 2 meeting cycles in May and July ; to which members were advised that the view had been taken that the agenda for the Annual Council Meeting in May was not a standard business meeting. |
| | The Town Clerk stressed the importance of Standing Orders and recommended that all Chairmen and members familiarise themselves with them. These had been sent out in the Members' Handbook and were available on the website. |
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Alan Peak SECONDED BY: Councillor Roger Bailey |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried . |
| | RESOLVED: That with the included amendment, to reflect '5 pm the working day before', the proposals to change Standing Orders as proposed by E&G be considered and sit on the table until the Town Council in September 2023 for approval |
| 98 | Proposal to streamline Committees & Meeting Cycles |
| | The recommendations from the Policy & Finance Committee 17 th April 2023 & Expenditure & Governance Working Party 13 th July 2023 had been previously circulated. |
| | The Town Clerk gave the background behind the recommendations for the benefit of new members. |
| | He had further conducted some research with other Town Councils of comparable size which demonstrated that this council was at the top end of numbers of both committees and meetings held. |
| | |

| | A member suggested, as was the recommendation by E&G, to review this early in the new year, also considering impacts of the move to HQ for the council. |
|-----|--|
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Peter Crew SECONDED BY: Councillor Gill Bute |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried . |
| | RESOLVED: To d efer the review of streamlining committees and meeting cycles until January 2 024 for implementation by May 2 024 and to r e-circulate the proposal to all councillors. |
| 99 | Re-adoption of the General Power of Competence |
| | The report of the Town Clerk had been previously circulated. |
| | The Town Clerk gave the background behind the General Power of Competence for the benefit of new members and confirmed that the Town Council me t the statutory Prescribed Conditions to have the power but needed to formally re-adopt it for the term 2023-2027. |
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Catherine Gibbons SECONDED BY: Councillor Hugh Malyan |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried. |
| | RESOLVED: That Weston-super-Mare Town Council meets the conditions in the Schedule to the Parish Councils (General Power of Competence) (Prescribed Conditions) Order 2012 no. 965; and therefore the Town Council resolves to re-adopt the General Power of Competence as described in the Localism Act 2011 for the current term of office 2023-2027. |
| 100 | Combining Armed Forces Day and Emergency Services Day 2024 |
| | The report of the Town Clerk had been previously circulated and recommended that the Town Council agree to the combining of the 2024 Armed Forces Day and Emergency Services Day events on 22nd June 2024. |
| | The Council had supported the Armed Forces Day event in late June for many years. When the Air Days were inaugurated by North Somerset Council it had been agreed to combine the two events on the same day and the Armed Forces Day show had then always took place on the beach lawns. |
| | Following the termination of the Air Days by North Somerset Council in 2023 the Armed Forces Day show as a smaller event was moved to the Italian Gardens but was magnificently supplemented by the Royal Marines Band playing in the arena, linked to the exercise of the Freedom of the Town by 40 Cdo Royal Marines. Military resources are precious and often required elsewhere so this will not be repeated in 2024. |
| | It had therefore been suggested that the Armed Forces Day event be combined with the annual Emergency Services Day, managed by the Police but also featuring the other emergency services. Initial multiagency conversations had taken place and the combination is acceptable to the armed forces community and would enable the combined event to go back onto the Beach Lawns in 2024. |

| | The proposed date of the combined event would be Saturday 22nd June 2024 and the lawns are available on that day. That date is also within one week of the national Armed Forces Day and would therefore enable a potential grant application to the MOD if required. | | | | | | |
|-----|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Martin Williams SECONDED BY: Councillor Gill Bute | | | | | | |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried. | | | | | | |
| | RESOLVED: That Weston-super-Mare Town Council agrees to the combining of the Armed Forces Day and Emergency Services Day events on 22nd June 2024. | | | | | | |
| 101 | Amendment to Annual Governance and Accountability Retum | | | | | | |
| | The report of the Deputy Town Clerk/RFO had been previously circulated. | | | | | | |
| | PROPOSED BY: Councillor Alan Peak SECONDED BY: Councillor Martin Williams | | | | | | |
| | A vote was taken and accordingly it was carried. | | | | | | |
| | RESOLVED: To approve the revised Accounting Statements (AGAR – Annual return) by resolution; and Sign and date as required (AGAR – Annual return) as per the report. | | | | | | |
| | The Town Clerk informed members that there was an Equality and Diversity training session in Grove House tomorrow evening, as per the Council's resolution that all staff were 'required' and Councillors 'expected' to attend if they hadn't already done so. | | | | | | |
| | The Town Mayor thanked everyone for attending the meeting. | | | | | | |
| | There being no further business, the Town Mayor closed the meeting at 8.52 pm. | | | | | | |
| | Signed: Dated: | | | | | | |
| | Town Mayor | | | | | | |

ay



REPORT TO

WESTON-SUPER-MARE TOWN COUNCIL

25th September 2023

MAYOR'S ENGAGEMENTS

24th July 2023- 25th September 2023

Town Mayor

Councillor Ciaran Cronnelly

ENGAGEMENTS SUMMARY

| Council Representative | Number of Engagements |
|------------------------|-----------------------|
| TOWN MAYOR | 35 |
| Cllr Ciaran Cronnelly | |

| DEPUTY MAYOR | 5 |
|----------------------------|---|
| Cllr John Crockford-Hawley | |
| TOWN COUNCIL LEADER | 0 |
| Cllr Alan Peak | |

TOTALS TO DATE

| Council Representative | Number of Engagements | | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| TOWN MAYOR | 89 | | |
| Cllr Ciaran Cronnelly | | | |
| DEPUTY MAYOR | 8 | | |
| Cllr John Crockford-Hawley | | | |
| TOWN COUNCIL LEADER | 0 | | |
| Cllr Alan Peak | | | |
| TOTAL | 97 | | |
| | | | |

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS:

27th July-Weston Lions Beer & Ale Festival Opening 29th July-Oppitts Addams Family performance at The Blakehay 4th September A1 Camera club Exhibition 14th September-High Sheriffs Garden Party 15th September-Weston Collage Graduation

UPCOMING EVENTS

29th September-Weston Hospice Grand Opening 4th October-Axe Scouts AGM & Annual Awards Evening 28th October- RBL Poppy Appeal Launch 12th Nov-Remembrance Service **CCTV – Castle Batch - Recommendation from Community Services – Minute Extract** 11th September 2023

Review of the Council's Service Level Agreement for Community Response

Further to this, the council had received a quote of £2,500 from NSC CCTV to upgrade the Castle Batch CCTV camera to infrared. This would require budget approval by Town Council but the Committees agreement for the concept recommendation was requested.

A vote was taken and was **carried**:

RECOMMENDED: To recommend the quoted cost of £2,500 to upgrade the CCTV camera situated at Castle Batch park for consideration by Town Council on 25th September 2023.

WESTON-SUPER-MARE TOWN COUNCIL

STANDING ORDERS

1. Meetings

- 1.1 Meetings of the Council shall be held at Weston-super-Mare Town Hall at 7.00pm unless the Council otherwise decides at a previous meeting.
- 1.2 The Statutory Annual Meeting
 - 1.2.1 In an election year shall be held on a day to be agreed by the retiring Council which shall be in the period between the fourth working day after the ordinary day of elections and the fourteenth day after the day on which the newly elected councillors take office.
 - 1.2.2 In a year which is not an election year shall be held between 1st and 31st of May.
- 1.3 Other Meetings
 - 1.3.1 All other meetings of the Council shall be held on such dates as may be fixed by the Council.
 - 1.3.2 The Town Mayor, or if absent Deputy Town Mayor, may at any time call a special meeting of the Council and, in addition, he/she shall do so on the requisition in writing of two or more members of the Council.

2. Presence of Public

- 2.1 The statutory right of the public to attend meetings shall be subject to common law rules as to:
 - 2.1.1 Availability of reasonable accommodation for the public to attend, and
 - 2.1.2 All powers of the Town Mayor or Chairman of Committee to exclude any person or persons from a meeting or to adjourn a meeting in order to suppress or prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting. If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting, the Chairman shall warn that person.
 - 2.1.3 If the interruption continues the Chairman shall order the person to be removed from the meeting room. In the case of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room the Chairman shall order that part to be cleared.

3. Chairman of Meeting

- 3.1 The person presiding at a meeting may exercise all the powers and duties of the Chairman in relation to the conduct of the meeting.
- 3.2 At each Annual Meeting the first business shall be to elect and ratify the appointments of a Town Mayor and a Deputy Town Mayor and to receive the Town Mayor's Declaration of Acceptance of Office or, if not received, decide when it shall be received.

- 3.3 At the full Town Council meeting preceding the Annual Meeting, the Deputy Town Mayor, shall be appointed for the following year subject only to 3.2 above.
- 3.4 The Deputy Town Mayor once elected shall be the Town Mayor-Elect for the following year and shall be nominated as Town Mayor for the following year subject only to ratification by the Town Council at its Annual Meeting.
- 3.5 The Town Mayor and the Deputy Town Mayor shall continue in office until the next Annual Meeting unless either resigns or becomes disqualified, in which case the Town Council shall forthwith elect a successor.

4. Town Clerk and Proper Officer

- 4.1 Where a statute, regulation or order confers functions or duties on the proper officer of the Council in the following cases, the proper officer shall be the Town Clerk:-
 - 1. To receive declarations of acceptance of office.
 - 2. To receive and record notices disclosing pecuniary interests.
 - 3. To receive and retain plans and documents.
 - 4. To sign notices or other documents on behalf of the Council.
 - 5. To receive copies of bye-laws made by a District Council.
 - 6. To certify copies of bye-laws made by the Council.
 - 7. To sign summonses to attend meetings of the Council.

In any other case the proper officer shall be the person nominated by the Council and, in default of nomination, that officer shall be the Town Clerk.

5. Quorum – Meetings of the Council

- 5.1 No business of the Council shall be conducted unless at least eleven Members of the Council are present.
- 5.2 If, at the expiration of fifteen minutes after the time at which any meeting of the Council is appointed to be held, the Town Clerk, after counting the number of Members present, announces that a quorum is not present, then no meeting shall take place.
- 5.3 If, during any meeting of the Council the attention of the Mayor shall be called to the fact that there is not one third of the Members present, the Town Clerk shall call over the names of the Members of the Council, and if there be not one third of the Members present, the Mayor shall adjourn the meeting of the Council and the names of those who are present and those who are absent shall be recorded in the minutes of the Council.

Consideration of any business not transacted shall be given at the next meeting of the Council.

6. Voting

- 6.1 Members shall vote by show of hands.
- 6.2 If a member so requires, the Town Clerk shall record the names of the members who

voted on any question so as to show whether they voted for or against it or abstained. Such a request must be made before the vote is taken.

- 6.3 Subject to 6.4 and 6.5 below the Chairman may give an original vote on any matter put to the vote, and in the case of an equality of votes may give a casting vote whether or not the Chairman gave an original vote.
- 6.4 If the person presiding at the Annual Meeting would have ceased to be a member of the Council but for the statutory provisions which preserve the membership of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman until the end of their term of office that person may not give an original vote in an election for Chairman.
- 6.5 The person presiding must give a casting vote whenever there is an equality of votes in an election for Chairman.

7. Agenda

- 7.1 The Town Clerk shall set out with every summons for a meeting of the Council notice of all business which in the Town Clerk 's judgement requires to be brought before the Council, and all other business where notice in writing, by way of notice of motion signed by a Member of the Council, has been duly given.
- 7.2 The Minutes of the various Committees shall be sent to each Member of the Council electronically unless requested otherwise by that Member.

8. Public Participation

- 8.1 Each meeting of the Town Council and its Standing Committees (but not its Sub Committees or working groups) shall be preceded by a period of 'Public Participation' not exceeding fifteen minutes.
- 8.2 Each participant must email or write to the Town Clerk with their name and address and the subject they wish to speak about by 5pm on the working day before the meeting and at the discretion of the Chairman shall be allowed to speak for a maximum of five minutes.
- 8.3 Questions shall be directed to the Chairman of the meeting who may request another member or the Town Clerk to reply.
- 8.4 Answers to questions may take the form of:
 - 8.4.1 Where a working day's advance notice has been given of the question, a direct oral response, or
 - 8.4.2 When the desired information is contained in a publication, reference to that publication, or
 - 8.4.3 When it is more convenient to do so a written answer subsequent to the meeting.
- 8.5 Every question shall be put and answered without discussion.
- 8.6 Questions shall not be permitted that relate to the individual affairs of either the questioner or any other named person, but should only relate to matters of policy or practice, i.e. matters of a general nature rather than individual concern.

8.7 The Chairman of the meeting shall disallow any question that is in his or her opinion, scurrilous, improper, pernicious, irrelevant or otherwise objectionable.

9. Order of Business

- 9.1 At each Annual Meeting the first business shall be:
 - 9.1.1 To elect a Town Mayor.
 - 9.1.2 To receive the Town Mayor's declaration of acceptance of office or, if not then received, to decide when it shall be received.
 - 9.1.3 In the ordinary year of election of the Council to fill any vacancies left unfilled at the election by reason of insufficient nominations.
 - 9.1.4 To decide when any declarations of acceptance of office and written undertakings to observe the code of conduct adopted by the Council which have not been received as provided by law, shall be received.
 - 9.1.5 To elect a Deputy Town Mayor.
 - 9.1.6 To appoint statutory or standing committees and sub-committees.
 - 9.1.7 To appoint representatives on outside bodies.
 - 9.1.8 To receive the Deputy Town Mayor's declaration of acceptance of office, or it not then received, to decide when it shall be received.

The order of business shall thereafter follow the order set out in Standing Order 9.4.

- 9.2 At every meeting other than the Annual Meeting the first business shall be to appoint a Chairman, if the Mayor and Deputy Town Mayor be absent, and to receive such Declarations of Acceptance of Office and written undertakings to observe the Code of Conduct (if any) as are required by law to be made, or if not then received to decide when they shall be received.
- 9.3 In every year, not later than the meeting at which the budget for the next year is settled, the Council shall review the pay and conditions of service of existing employees. Standing Order 22 must be read in conjunction with this requirement.
- 9.4 After the first business has been completed, the order of business, unless the Council otherwise decides on the ground of urgency, shall be as follows:-
 - 9.4.1 To read and consider the Minutes of the last meeting of the Council, provided that if a copy has been circulated to each member not later than the day of issue of the summons to attend the meeting, the Minutes may be taken as read.
 - 9.4.2 After consideration to approve the signature of the Minutes by the presiding Chairman as a correct record.
 - 9.4.3 To deal with business expressly required by statute to be done.
 - 9.4.4 To dispose of business, if any, remaining from the last meeting.
 - 9.4.5 To receive such communications as the Town Mayor may wish to lay before the Council.
 - 9.4.6 To receive and consider reports and minutes of committees and advisory committees.
 - 9.4.7 To receive and consider reports from officers of the Council.
 - 9.4.10 To consider motions or recommendations in the order in which they have been notified.
 - 9.4.11 Any other business specified in the summons.

10. Variation of Order of Business

- 10.1 A motion to vary the order of business on the grounds of urgency:
 - 10.1.1 May be proposed by any member, and
 - 10.1.2 Shall be put to the vote without discussion.

11. Resolutions Moved On Notice

- 11.1 Except as provided by these Standing Orders, no resolution may be moved unless the mover has given notice in writing of its terms and has delivered the notice to the Town Clerk at least seven clear days before the next meeting of the Council.
- 11.2 The Town Clerk shall date every notice of motion or recommendation when received by him, shall number each notice in the order in which it was received and shall enter it in a book which shall be open to the inspection of every member of the Council.
- 11.3 The Town Clerk shall insert in the summons for every meeting all notices of motion or recommendation properly given in the order in which they have been received unless the member giving a notice of motion has stated in writing the intention to move at some later meeting or has withdrawn it in writing.
- 11.4 If a resolution or recommendation specified in the summons be not moved, it shall, unless postponed by the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without new notice.
- 11.5 If the subject matter of a resolution comes within the province of a committee of the Council, it shall, upon being moved and seconded, stand referred without discussion to such committee or to such other committee as the Council may determine for report, provided that the Chairman, if considering it to be a matter of urgency, may allow it to be dealt with at the meeting at which it was moved.
- 11.6 Every resolution or recommendation shall be relevant to some question over which the Council has power or which affects its area.

12. Improper Motions

- 12.1 If the Town Clerk receives notice of motion and has doubt as to the propriety of inserting it in the summons, it shall be submitted to the Chairman who, if of the opinion that the motion is vexatious, scurrilous or otherwise improper, may direct such notice to be returned with an intimation that it will not be inserted in the summons, and the Town Clerk shall return the same accordingly.
- 12.2 No motion substantially the same as a motion rejected within the preceding three months shall be allowed.

13. Resolutions Moved Without Notice

13.1 Resolutions dealing with the following matters may be moved without notice:

- 13.1.2 To correct the minutes.
- 13.1.3 To approve the minutes.
- 13.1.4 To alter the order of business.
- 13.1.5 To proceed to the next business.
- 13.1.6 To close or adjourn the debate.
- 13.1.7 To refer a matter to a committee.
- 13.1.8 To appoint a committee or sub-committee or any members thereof.
- 13.1.9 To adopt or amend a report.
- 13.1.10 To authorise the sealing of documents.
- 13.1.11 To amend a motion.
- 13.1.12 To give leave to withdraw a motion or amendment.
- 13.1.13 To exclude the press and the public (see Standing Order 35)
- 13.1.14 To silence or eject from the meeting a member named for misconduct (see Standing Order 17)
- 13.1.15 To extend the time limit for speeches.
- 13.1.16 To give the consent of the Council where such consent is required by these Standing Orders.
- 13.1.17 To suspend any Standing Order (see Standing Order 41)

14. Questions

- 14.1 A member may ask the Chairman, the Chairman of a Committee or the Town Clerk any question concerning the business of the Council.
- 14.2 (paragraph deleted)
- 14.3 Every question shall be put and answered without discussion.
- 14.4 A person to whom a question has been put may decline to answer.
- 14.5 Where the reply to any question cannot conveniently be given orally, it shall be a sufficient reply if the answer is circulated to Members of the Council with the Minutes of the Meeting at which the question has been asked.

15. Rules of Debate

- 15.1 No discussion shall take place upon the minutes except upon their accuracy. Corrections to the minutes shall be made by resolution and must be included in the Minutes of the meeting at which the correction is made.
- 15.2 A resolution or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and seconded. Unless proper notice has already been given, it shall, if required by the Chairman, be reduced to writing and handed to the Chairman before it is further discussed or put to the meeting.
- 15.3 A member when seconding a resolution or amendment may declare to reserve his speech until a later period of the debate.
- 15.4 A member shall speak to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or to a question of order.
- 15.5 No speech shall exceed five minutes, except by consent of the Council.

- 15.6 An amendment shall be either:
 - 1. To leave out words.
 - 2. To leave out words and insert or add others.
 - 3. To insert or add words.
- 15.7 An amendment shall not have the effect of negating the motion before the Council.
- 15.8 If an amendment be carried, the resolution, as amended, shall take the place of the original resolution and shall become the resolution upon which any further amendment may be moved.
- 15.9 A further amendment shall not be moved until the Council has disposed of every amendment previously moved.
- 15.10 The mover of a resolution or of an amendment shall have a right of reply not exceeding five minutes.
- 15.11 A member, other than the mover of a resolution, shall not, without leave of the Council, speak more than once on any resolution except to move an amendment or further amendment, or on an amendment, or on a point of order, or in personal explanation, or to move the closure.
- 15.12 A member may speak to make a point of order or a personal explanation. A member speaking for these purposes shall be heard forthwith. A personal explanation shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by that member which may have been misunderstood.
- 15.13 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the proposer with the consent of his or her seconder unanimous consent of the Council, which shall be signified without discussion, and no member may speak upon it after permission has been asked for its withdrawal unless such permission has been refused.
- 15.14 When a resolution is under debate no other resolution shall be moved except the following:
 - 15.14.1 To amend the resolution.
 - 15.14.2 To proceed to the next business.
 - 15.14.3 To adjourn the debate.
 - 15.14.4 That the question be now put.
 - 15.14.5 That a member named be not further heard.
 - 15.14.6 That a member named do leave the meeting.
 - 15.14.7 That the resolution be referred to a committee.
 - 15.14.8 To exclude the public or the press or both.
 - 15.14.9 To adjourn the meeting.
- 15.15 The ruling of the Chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of personal explanation shall not be discussed.
- 15.16 Members shall address the Chairman. If two or more members wish to speak, the Chairman shall decide who to call upon.

15.17 The Chairman shall call upon individual members to speak and when the member or the Chairman is speaking all other members shall be silent.

16. Closure

16.1 At the end of any speech a member may, without comment, move "that the question be now put", "that the debate be now adjourned" or "that the Council do now adjourn". If such motion is seconded and if the Chairman is of the opinion that the question before the Council has been sufficiently debated (but not otherwise), shall forthwith put the motion. If the motion "that the question be now put " is carried, the Chairman shall call upon the mover to exercise or waive the right of reply and shall put the question immediately after that right has been exercised or waived. The adjournment of a debate or of the Council shall not prejudice the mover 's right of reply at the resumption.

17. Disorderly Conduct

- 17.1 All members of the Council must observe the Code of Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 2nd July 2012, a copy of which is annexed to these Standing Orders.
- 17.2 No member shall at a meeting persistently disregard the ruling of the Chairman, wilfully obstruct business, or behave irregularly, offensively, improperly or in such a manner as to bring the Council into disrepute.
- 17.3 If, in the opinion of the Chairman, a member has acted in a manner contrary to that required, the Chairman shall express that opinion to the Council and thereafter any member may move that the member named be no longer heard or that the member named do leave the meeting, and the motion, if seconded, shall be put forthwith and without discussion. If a member reasonably believes another member is in breach of the Code of Conduct, that member is under a duty to report the breach to the Local Standards Committee.
- 17.4 If the motion mentioned in paragraph 17.3 is disobeyed, the Chairman may adjourn the meeting or take such further steps as may reasonably be necessary to enforce it.

18. Right of Reply

18.1 The mover of a resolution shall have a right to reply immediately before the resolution is put to the vote. If an amendment is proposed, the mover of the amendment shall be entitled to reply immediately before the amendment is put to the vote. A member exercising a right of reply shall not introduce new matter. After the right of reply has been exercised or waived, a vote shall be taken without further discussion.

19. Alteration of Resolution

19.1 A member may, with the consent of his seconder, move amendments to his or her_ own resolution.

20. Rescission of Previous Resolution

20.1 A decision (whether affirmative or negative) of the Council shall not be reversed within six months save by a special resolution, the written notice whereof bears the

names of at least eight members of the Council.

- 20.2 When a special resolution has been disposed of, no similar resolution may be moved within a further six months.
- 20.3 This Standing Order shall not apply to resolutions moved in pursuance of the report or recommendation of a committee.

21. Voting on Appointments

21.1 Where more than two persons have been nominated for any position to be filled by the Council and of the votes given there is not an absolute majority in favour of one person, the name of the person having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a new vote taken, and so on until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person. This Standing Order shall not apply in any case where the method of voting is prescribed by statute.

22. Discussions and Resolutions Affecting Employees of the Council

22.1 If at a meeting there arises any question relating to the appointment, conduct, promotion, dismissal, salary or conditions of service, of any person employed by the Council, it shall not be considered until the Council or committee (as the case may be) has decided whether or not the press and public shall be excluded. (See Standing Order No 35).

23. Resolutions on Expenditure

23.1 Any motion which is moved otherwise than in pursuance of a recommendation of the Policy & Finance Committee, or of another Committee after recommendation by the Policy & Finance Committee and which, if carried, would, in the opinion of the Chairman substantially increase the expenditure upon any service which is under the management of the Council, or reduce the revenue at the disposal of any committee, or which would involve capital expenditure, shall, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council and any committee affected by it shall consider whether it desires to report thereon. The Policy and Finance Committee shall report on the financial aspect of the proposal.

24. Sealing of Documents

24.1 A document shall not be sealed on behalf of the Council unless its sealing has been authorised by a resolution.

25. Committees and Sub-Committees

25.1 The Council may at its Annual Meeting appoint standing committees and may at any other time appoint such other committees as are necessary but subject to any statutory provision in that behalf:

- (a) shall not appoint any member of a committee so as to hold office later than the next Annual Meeting,
- (b) may appoint persons other than members of the Council to any

committee;

- 25.2 The Town Mayor and Deputy Town Mayor ex-officio shall be non-voting members of every committee unless appointed as a voting member.
- 25.3 Every committee shall at its first meeting before proceeding to any other business, elect a Chairman and may elect a Vice-Chairman who shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Council.
- 25.4. The Chairman of a committee or the Chairman of the Council may summon an additional meeting or change the date of a meeting of that committee at any time subject to giving the required statutory notice . An additional meeting shall also be summoned on the requisition in writing of not less than a quarter of the members of the committee. The summons shall set out the business to be considered at the special meeting and no other business shall be transacted at that meeting.
- 25.5 Every committee may appoint sub-committees for purposes to be specified by the committee.
- 25.6 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the committee shall be members of every subcommittee appointed by it unless they signify that they do not wish to serve.
- 25.7 Except where ordered by the Council in the case of a committee, or by the Council or by the appropriate committee in the case of a sub-committee, the quorum of a committee or sub-committee shall be one-half of its members (rounded down).
- 25.7(a) To note the Planning Quorum will be one third of its members.
- 25.8 The Standing Orders on rules of debate (except those parts relating to speaking more than once) and the Standing Order on interests of members in contracts and other matters shall apply to committee and sub-committee meetings. All other Standing Orders shall, with any necessary modifications, apply to Committees and sub-Committees.

26. Advisory Committees

- 26.1 The Council may create advisory committees, whose name, number of members and the bodies to be invited to nominate members shall be specified.
- 26.2 The Town Clerk shall inform the members of each advisory committee of the terms of reference of the advisory committee.
- 26.3 An advisory committee may make recommendations and give notice thereof to the Council.
- 26.4 An advisory committee may consist wholly of persons who are not members of the Council.

27. Voting in Committees

- 27.1 Members of committees and sub-committees shall vote by show of hands. The provisions of Standing Order 6.2 apply to Committees and Sub-Committees.
- 27.2 Chairmen of committees and sub-committees shall, in the case of an equality of

votes, have a second or casting vote.

27.3 Co-opted members of Committees and Sub-committees will not be eligible to vote, however, due consideration will be given to their input to the debate.

28. Presence of Non-Members of Committees at Committee Meetings

- 28.1 A member who has proposed a motion which has been referred to any committee of which that person is not a member, may explain the motion to the committee but shall not vote.
- 28.2 Any Council member shall, unless the Council otherwise orders, be entitled to be present at the meetings of any committee or sub-committee of which that person is not a member and, at the discretion of the Chairman, be permitted to speak but not vote.

29. Delegated Powers

- 29.1 Without prejudice to the Town Clerk's gene ral managerial responsibilities and the approved scheme of Committee and Officer Delegations no group of Members, individual Member or Officer shall have delegated power to take decisions on behalf of the Council save as provided by this Standing Order.
- 29.2 The Council may at any time delegate its authority to deal with any particular matter under consideration to a Committee or to a Sub-committee or to an ad-hoc group of Members (which shall consist of at least three) or to the Town Clerk.
- 29.3 In the event of any matter arising which requires an urgent decision the Town Clerk shall forthwith consult with the Committee (and also with the Finance Committee if the matter involves expenditure not provided for in the annual estimates) and those Members so consulted shall have delegated power to act on behalf of the Council in respect of the particular matter then under consideration.
- 29.4 Before exercising the delegated powers granted by paragraph 29.3 of this Standing Order, those Members consulted shall consider whether the matter is of sufficient import to justify the summoning of a Special Meeting of the appropriate Committee in accordance with Standing Order 2 5 and where a meeting is so summoned the Committee concerned shall have delegated power to act on behalf of the Council in respect of the particular matter then under consideration.
- 29.5 Whenever any action is taken under this Standing Order, full details of the circumstances justifying the urgency and of the action taken shall be submitted in writing to the next available meeting of the Committee concerned.

30. Code of Conduct and Interests

- 30.1 If a member has a non-pecuniary interest as defined by the Code of Conduct adopted by the Council on 2nd July 2012, then he/she shall declare such interest as soon as it becomes apparent, disclosing the existence and nature of that interest as required. A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on request and published on the Town Council's website.
- 30.2 If a member who has declared a non-pecuniary interest then considers the interest to

be pecuniary, he/she must withdraw from the room or chamber during consideration of the item to which the interest relates.

- 30.3 The Town Clerk may be required to compile and hold a Register of Member 's Interests, or a copy thereof, and in accordance with agreement reached with the Monitoring Officer of the Responsible Authority and/or as required by Statute.
- 30.4 If a candidate for any appointment under the Council is, to hi s/her knowledge related to any member of, or the holder of any office under the Council, he /she and the person to whom he/she is related shall disclose the relationship in writing to the Town Clerk. A candidate who fails so to do shall be disqualified for such appointment and, if appointed, may be dismissed without notice. The Town Clerk shall report to the Council or to the appropriate committee any such disclosure. Where relationship to a member is disclosed this Standing Order shall apply.
- 30.5 The Town Clerk shall make known the purpose of this Standing Order to every candidate.

31. Canvassing of and Recommendation by Members

- 31.1 Canvassing of members of the Council or of any committee, directly or indirectly, for any appointment under the Council shall disqualify the candidate for such appointment. The Clerk shall make known the purpose of this paragraph of this Standing Order to every candidate.
- 31.2 A member of the Council or of any committee shall not solicit for any person any appointment under the Council or recommend any person for such appointment or for promotion. Nevertheless, any such member may give a written testimonial of a candidate's ability, experience or character for submission to the Council with an application for appointment.

32. Tenders and Contracts

- 32.1 Standing Orders 39(e) and (f) shall apply to tenders and contracts for work as if the person making the tender or applying for a contract for work were a candidate for an appointment.
- 32.2 The Town Clerk shall record in a book to be kept for the purpose, particulars of any notice given by any member or any officer of the council of a pecuniary interest in a contract or tender, and the book shall be open during reasonable hours of the day for the inspection of any member.
- 33.3 All procurement and award of contracts covered by the 2015 Regulations which have an estimated value of £25,000 or more must satisfy the requirements of the 2015 Regulations which include use of the Contracts Finder website

33. Inspection of Documents

- 33.1 A member may for the purpose of his duty as such (but not otherwise), inspect any document in possession of the Council or a Committee, and if copies are available shall, on request, be supplied for the like purpose with a copy.
- 33.2 All Minutes kept by the Council and by any Committees shall be open for the inspection of any member of the council.

- 33.3 The Minutes of the Council shall be open to inspection by any elector of the parish.
- 33.4 All other documents of the Council shall be open to inspection in accordance with the Publication Scheme adopted by the Council under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

34. Unauthorised Activities

- 34.1 No member of the Council or of any committee or sub-committee shall in the name of, or on behalf of, the Council:-
 - 34.1.1 Inspect any lands or premises which the Council has a right or duty to inspect, or
 - 34.1.2 Issue orders, instructions or directions unless authorised to do so by the Council or the relevant committee/subcommittee.

35. Admission of Public and Press to Meetings

35.1 The public and the press shall be admitted to all meetings of the Council and its Committees and Sub-Committees, which may, however, temporarily exclude the public or the press or both by means of the following resolution:

"That in view of the confidential nature of the business about to be transacted, it is advisable in the public interest that the public and press be excluded and they are instructed to withdraw."

- 35.2 The Council, committee or sub-committee shall state the special reason for exclusion.
- 35.3 The Town Clerk shall afford to the press reasonable facilities for taking their report of any proceedings at which they are entitled to be present.
- 35.4 Audio or video recording the recording of proceedings on a device or photographs may be made of any part of the the meeting from which the press and public are not excluded without the express permission of the Chairman provided that they cause no disruption or intrusion into the business of the Council. Oral commentary is not permitted during a meeting and children or vulnerable adults should not be filmed or photographed.
- 35.5 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting, the Chairman may, after warning, order that the person be removed from the meeting room or that the part of the meeting room open to the public be cleared. The Chairman may adjourn the meeting for such period as is necessary to restore order.

36. Confidential Business

- 36.1 No Member of the Council or of any committee or sub-committee shall disclose to any person not a member of the Council any business declared to be confidential by the Council, the committee or the sub-committee as the case may be.
- 36.2 Any Member in breach of the provisions of paragraph 3 6.1 of this Standing Order shall be removed from any committee or sub-committee of the Council by the Council.

37. Liaison with Unitary Councillors

37.1 A notice of Council meetings and minutes shall be sent to the Unitary Authority Liaison Officer.

38. Planning Applications

- 38.1 Every planning application notified to the Council shall be recorded in the Minutes of the Planning Committee.
- 38.2 The Town Clerk shall refer every planning application to the Planning Committee except in the case of major planning applications of a strategic nature when the application shall be referred to Council.

39. Contracts

- 39.1 Contracts to comply with Standing Orders
- (a) Every contract, whether made by the Council or by a committee or sub-committee to which the power of making contracts shall have been delegated, shall comply with these Standing Orders and no exception from any of the following provisions of these Orders shall be made otherwise than by direction of the Council or, in an emergency, by such a committee or sub-committee as aforesaid with the approval of the Chairman of the Policy and Finance Committee.

Exceptions

- (b) Every exception made by a committee or sub-committee to which the power of making contracts has been delegated shall be reported to the Council and the report shall specify the emergency by which the exception shall have been justified.
- (c) Express note of any exception from any of the provisions of these Standing orders and of the emergency, if any, by which the exception shall have been justified shall, unless recorded, in the report of a committee or sub-committee, which is laid before the Council, be made in the minutes of the Council.
- (d) Before any contract for the supply of goods and materials, execution of works, or any provision as to the maintenance or servicing thereof is made, the Town Clerk or Head of Service initiating such order shall ensure that the estimated cost of said supply or works has been included in the annual budget of the Council under the appropriate heading.
- (e) Any proposed contract for the supply of goods and materials, execution of works or any provision as to the maintenance or servicing thereof which has not been included in the annual budget shall be the subject of a separate report to the appropriate committee or the Council. If approved, normal tender procedures will apply.

Financial Variations

- (f) All financial figures contained within these Standing Orders are agreed as at 16th March 2015.
- 39.2 Tendering Procedures

Arrangements for invitation of tenders

(a) Where the estimated cost of works, goods and materials and related services is as set below and the requisite provision thereof has been made in the approved budget, the arrangements for the invitation of tenders or quotations and the subsequent acceptance thereof shall be as shown.

| Estimated Value | Method of Invitation | Acceptance by | | |
|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| £7,500 to £20,000 | Minimum of three invitations for quotations | Town Clerk and Committee Chairman | | |
| £20,001 to £65,000 | Minimum of four invitations for quotations | Town Clerk and Chairman of appropriate Committee | | |
| Above £65,000 | Minimum of five invitations for tenders (with discretion to invite tenders by public advertisement up to £95,000) | Town Clerk and Chairmen of appropriate Committee and Policy and Finance Committee | | |

In all cases up to £20,000 where the lowest tender received is in excess of 5% above the original estimate, or in cases over £20,000 where it is in excess of the original estimate, it shall be reported to the appropriate committee for acceptance or otherwise.

(b) Public Advertisement

Contracts which exceed £ 95,000 in value or amount for the supply of goods or materials or the execution of any work for which provision has been made in the annual budget shall not be made unless at least ten days public notice has been given in one or more of the local newspapers circulating in the district. Provided that it shall not be obligatory for the Council or any committee or sub-committee exercising powers delegated by the Council to invite tenders for a contract or materials where effective competition is prevented by Government control or where the Town Clerk reports in writing to the Council or to the committee or sub-committee exercising such powers that effective competition is prevented by the special nature of the goods or materials required. Nor shall it be necessary to give public notice of the intention to enter into such a contract.

(c) Standing Lists of Tenderers

(i) Where the Council has determined that lists shall be kept of persons to be invited to tender for contracts for the supply of goods and materials of specified categories, values or amounts or for the execution of specified categories of work, notices inviting applications for inclusion in the lists shall be published in one or more newspapers or journals circulating amongst such persons as undertake contracts of specified values or amounts or categories.

For Approval by Town Council on 24^h July 2023

- (ii) The list shall contain the names of all persons who wish to be included in it and are approved by the appropriate committee and indicate whether a person whose name is included on it is approved for contracts for all, or only some of the specified values or amounts or categories.
- (iii) The said list shall be amended as required from time to time and shall be reviewed at intervals not exceeding five years.
- (iv) Where, by virtue of a decision of the Council or of the committee or the Town Clerk duly authorised on that behalf, invitation to tender for a contract is limited to persons whose names appear on the list maintained under this Order, an invitation to tender for a particular contract shall be sent:

In respect of contracts of above \pounds 7,500 but less than \pounds 20,000 to three tenderers, less than \pounds 65,000 to four tenderers, \pounds 65,000 and above to five tenderers. Should the said list not include the required number of tenderers, then a minimum of three will be invited to tender.

(d) <u>Exceptions to procedures</u>

The Order shall not apply to:

- (i) the supply of goods and materials or the execution of works of less than £7,500 in value;
- (ii) purchase by auction;
- (iii) purchase or repair of patented or proprietary goods or materials sold at fixed price;
- (iv) purchase of materials normally supplied by specialist contractors;
- (v) the execution of work, the purchase of goods or materials or the provision of services involving special, scientific or artistic knowledge;
- (vi) the execution of work or the purchase of goods or materials which are a matter of urgency after prior reference to the appropriate Committee Chairman;
- (vii) the purchase of goods or materials which the Town Clerk may, from time to time, deem it expedient to make in the open market provided that before making any such purchase the approval of the Chairman of the appropriate committee concerned is obtained and finance is available in the appropriate budget;
- (viii) contracts with professional persons for the execution of works in which the personal skills of the person is of primary importance, and
- (ix) those contracts where a committee may expressly determine that it is in the Council's interest that a tender be negotiated directly with a contractor or supplier of goods or services.
- (e) <u>Requirements for submission of tenders</u>

Where in pursuance of Standing Order 39.2(a) public invitation to tender is required, every notice of such invitation shall state that no tender will be received except in a plain sealed envelope which shall bear the word "Tender" followed by the subject to which it relates, but shall not bear any name or mark indicating the sender and such envelopes shall remain in the custody of the Town Clerk until the time appointed for their opening.

(f) Declarations as to conduct of Tenderer

In connection with the submission of tenders for the execution of works or supply of goods and materials, declaration shall be obtained from each tenderer in the following form:

"We declare that we are not parties to any scheme or arrangement under which

- (i) We communicate the amount of our tender to any other person or body before the contract is let;
- (ii) Any other tenderer for the works, which are the subject of our tender, is reimbursed any part of his tendering costs, and
- (iii) Our tender prices are adjusted by reference directly or indirectly to the prices of any other tenderer for the works.

No provision is made in our tender price for any reimbursement of any adjustment of any contribution thereto."

(g) Procedure for opening tenders

Tenders shall be opened by the Town Clerk or an official of the Council designated by him at one time and only in the presence of such Member or Members of the Council as may have been designated for the purpose by the Council or by the committee or sub-committee to which the power of making the contract to which the tenders relate has been delegated. Where tenders have been opened in pursuance of this paragraph they shall be recorded and reported to the next meeting of the appropriate committee or sub-committee.

(h) Limitations of acceptance of tenders

A tender other than the lowest tender if payment is to be made by the Council or the highest tender if payment is to be received by the Council shall not be accepted until the Council shall have considered a written report of the appropriate Officer or other appointed specialist advisor.

39.3 Contracts for Supplies and Services, etc.

Every contract which exceeds £10,000 in value or amount shall be in writing.

Every contract in writing shall be signed by the Town Clerk on behalf of the Council.

39.4 Contracts for Supplies, Services or Works

Every contract for which provision has been made in the approved annual estimates

and/or approved by the appropriate committee or Sub-Committee of the Council pursuant to Standing Orders and being in value of amount less than £10,000 shall be entered into on behalf of the Council by the Town Clerk or his nominated representative by issuing an official order only.

39.5 Contents of written Contracts and Penalties

Every written contract shall specify:

- (i) the work, materials, matters or things to be furnished, had or done;
- (ii) the price to be paid with a statement of discounts or other deductions, and
- (iii) the time or times within which the contract is to be performed.
- 39.6 Corrupt Practices

There shall be inserted in every written contract a clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation if the contractor shall have offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do for having done or forborne to do any action in relation to the obtaining or execution of the contract or any other contract with the Council, or for showing or forbearing to show favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the contract or any other contract with the Council, or if the like acts shall have been done by any person employed by him/her or acting on hi s/her behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the contractor) or if in relation to any contract with the Council the contractor or any person employed by him/her or acting on hi s/her behalf shall have committed any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, or shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972.

40. Complaints Procedure

40.1 The Council shall deal with complaints of maladministration allegedly committed by the Council or by any officer or member in the manner outlined in the Council 's adopted Complaints Procedure, other than those complaints which should be properly directed to the North Somerset Standards Committee.

41. Variation, Revocation and Suspension of Standing Order

- 41.1 Any part of these Standing Orders except those printed in bold type may be suspended by resolution in relation to any specific item of business.
- 41.2 A motion permanently to add, vary or revoke a Standing Order shall when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council to allow time for the Town Clerk to research the implications of the proposal.

42. Record of Attendance at Meetings

42.1 The Town Clerk shall maintain a Record of Attendances in respect of meetings of the Council and of its Committees.

43. Distribution and Construction of Standing Orders

- 43.1 A printed copy of these Standing Orders shall be given to each member by the Town Clerk upon delivery to the Town Clerk of the Member's Declaration of Acceptance of Office.
- 43.2 The ruling of the Chairman as to the construction or application of any of these Standing Orders, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not be challenged at a meeting of the Council.

44. Code of Conduct

44.1 Members of the Council shall be bound by the Code of Conduct which was adopted by Weston-super-Mare Town Council on 2nd July 2012. The Code is available on request and published on the Town Council's website.

45. Financial Regulations

45.1 These Standing Orders shall be read in conjunction with the Financial Regulations of the Council as amended from time to time, which shall be available on request and published on the Town Council's website.

1. Finance Position

- 1.1 The Council adopted its Medium-Term Financial Plan during 2022/2023 where General reserve levels were recommended at 3.5 x Average revenue expenditure which would mean a reserve of around £525,000.
- 1.2 At year end 31.03.22 the level of General Reserves stood at £493,364. This is slightly below the recommended average but still with in a good tolerance level (the minimum General Reserve based on average should not fall below £350,000.
- 1.3 At the year end 31.03.23 General reserves took a big decline and now stand at £283,394 This is a hit of £209,970 from the bottom line and leaves reserves below the minimum level.
- 1.4 This was due to unprecedented revenue expenditure, not meeting income targets and additional costs and commitments the council had made to use General Reserve
- 1.5 There will be an increase in General Reserves, following an NNDR Refund, by £288,389.87

2. Capital Projects

- 2.1 Following on from the Medium-Term Financial Plan the council has implemented a capital reserve to fund its capital and new projects, which at the 31.03.23 was:
 - Castle Batch (Remaining balance of fully funded project) = £273,149
 - HQ Waterloo Street (Allocated Capital Reserve part funded) = £385,500

3. HQ – Summary of provision and detail of underfunding taking into account year end GR position

- 3.1 The total awarded contract for the Roof / Tower & M & E and ground floor refurbishment is **£818,406.**
- 3.2 Secured funding:

| Source | Value |
|--------------------------------|----------|
| Capital Reserve | £385,500 |
| Approved use of revenue 23/24 | |
| Capital Provision | £145,000 |
| Environmental Provision (M & E | £50,000 |
| upgrade) | |
| PPM Provision | £42,829 |
| TOTAL | £623,329 |

- 3.3 Outline Shortfall £195,077
- 3.4 Note: There is a £100,000 contingency provision within the total contract value but there can be no reliance on this not being spent.
- 3.5 Prior to the year end provision, the council had aspired to utilise GR up to the value of £150,000 to fund the increased cost following tender and contract award– this is now not an option to do with the reduced provision in place at 31.03.23

4. Recommendation from Policy and Finance Committee

This information was taken to the meeting of the Policy and Finance Committee on the 19th June 2023. Options were provided to members on how the shortfall could be met, and they resolved as follows:

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Mark Canniford **SECONDED BY:** Councillor Robert Payne

A vote was taken and **carried** (8For; 1Against; 1Abstention) Accordingly, it was

RESOLVED: To approve virements of monies from revenue budgets & EMR to the Capital Reserve budgets as per the report, summarised as follows:

| 2023) | |
|--|------------|
| Capital Provision in Revenue (For HQ) | £145,000 |
| Environmental Budget (for Road Map to Zero improvements to Assets) | £50,000 |
| PPM Provision (towards upgrades) | £42,829 |
| Museum NNDR provision (not required) | £57,000 |
| EMR Provision – reallocation (recommended to Town Council | Amount £'s |
| for final approval | |
| EMR Provision for Plant Room | £51,105 |
| (monies to be taken from revenue budget 23/24 instead) | |
| EMR Provision for Grit Bins | £3,735 |
| (Monies no longer needed due to service change and ability to supply GRIT) | |
| EMR WIB Provision for planter at Weston Station | £5,000 |
| (Planter now been provided by Wessex Water so no longer needed) | |
| EMR Community Projects – provision for upgrade of changing | £7,200 |
| facilities at Waterpark | |
| (This will not be done in 23/24 so can be included in next years | |
| budget provision or EMRRP) | |
| TOTAL | £124,040 |
| | |

- The remaining balance of £71,037 required for capital works at 32 Waterloo Street should be taken from the councils General Reserve balance, in the event that the contingency sums included in the tendered sum be fully required. (The project total was noted as £818,406 (awarded to contractor) which includes a total contingency of £100k). It was further noted that should future capital work projects (The Old Town Quarry) require funding that cannot be funded by CIL provisions or ability to gain grant funding the council would need to apply for a PWLB loan to facilitate this or other future capital projects noting the depletion of general reserves at the current time.
- 2. That the budget setting process for 2024/2025 would need to include robust monetary provisions to be put place to replenish General reserves to reflect requirements of the MTFP and recommended reserve levels, considering predicted financial positions at the end of 2023/2024.

5. Requirement

5.1 Since the decision made at the Policy and Finance meeting, virements have been made to the value above.

5.2 Members are requested to:

- 1. Approve the use of general reserves to the value of £67,040 for capital works at 32 Waterloo Street.
- 2. Note the need to include robust monetary provisions to be put place to replenish General reserves to reflect requirements of the MTFP and recommended reserve levels, considering predicted financial positions at the end of 2023/2024.

Sarah Pearse / Molly Maher

Deputy Town Clerk / Senior Development Officer Drafted 18th September 2023

Town Council – 25th September 2023 HQ Refurbishment Update Report of the Deputy Town Clerk / Responsible Financial Officer

Abbreviations

HQWG – HQ Working Group MTFP – Medium Term Financial Plan CIL – Community Infrastructure Levy PWLB – Public Works Loan Board M+E – Mechanical and Electrical

1. General overview

- 1.1 At the request of the HQWG, an update regarding the building works at 32 Waterloo Street has been provided.
- 1.2 Members will be aware that John West Contractors were awarded the build contract for the Internal Alterations and Mechanical and Electrical refurbishment, as well as the Roof and Stonework Repairs.
- 1.3 They began on site 28th June 2023, following a lengthy process to agree scaffold licenses with neighbouring properties. Following access being made available to the tower for the structural engineer and stonemasons to inspect its condition, there has been a brief period off site. Given that the scaffold was required in order to complete this assessment, there had been no prior ability to fully specify and cost the works required. During this time, it was felt prudent to close the site, in order to save site management fees. John West were back on site the week commencing the 4th of September to carry out asbestos removal.

2. <u>Planning</u>

Ramp

- 2.1 An application was submitted for planning permission for a ramp outside the front of the building. This would be sympathetic with the design, with North Somerset Council's Conservation Officer having requested that there be no railings.
- 2.2 The application for planning permission for the ramp had been withdrawn, following its return with several queries. It was pulled rather than force a negative decision, in order to find resolution to the queries raised. This application will be resubmitted in due course. In the meantime, a below ground services search was carried out as a result of the queries. There were some highway considerations which needed to be resolved. The Assistant Town Clerk (Operational Services) had offered to assist with the highway requirements.

Solar

2.3 Planning permission for the solar installation had been approved and would be installed as part of the electrical installation as per approved contract.

Planning and Listed Building Consent for the main building

- 2.4 Planning approval for the building works was approved with the following conditions:
 - Works must be completed within three years, in line with the proposal and drawings submitted.
 - New or replacement interior doors and handles obtain permission from Local Planning Authority prior to installation.
 - Adherence to recommendation in the acoustic survey carried out prior to planning approval, including a scheme demonstrating appliance.
 - Bullnose bricks retained.
 - Seven days notice given to Local Planning Authority before removing tiled flooring to ensure they can have someone on site for the removal, to confirm if there were original tiles underneath
- 2.5 Since approval, it has been agreed with North Somerset Council's Conservation Officer that the tiled floor in the main lobby will not be removed, and instead the new flooring will be placed over the top of the tiles.

3. <u>Budget</u>

- 3.1 A report was taken to the Policy and Finance Committee on the 19th June regarding budget consideration, with a subsequent report for use of reserves going to full Town Council. The contract value was proposed at £818,406, with all options for streamlining exhausted. There was a shortfall of £195,077. A series of virements were agreed which took the shortfall down to £71,037, to which members agreed should be taken from the council's general reserves balance. The contract was awarded at the value of £818,406. These resolutions were made with the caveats that:
 - Should future capital work projects (The Old Town Quarry) require funding that cannot be funded by CIL provisions or ability to gain grant funding the council would need to apply for a PWLB loan to facilitate this or other future capital projects noting the depletion of general reserves at the current time.
 - That the budget setting process for 2024/2025 would need to include robust monetary provisions to be put place to replenish General reserves to reflect requirements of the MTFP and recommended reserve levels, considering predicted financial positions at the end of 2023/2024.
- 3.2 The HQWG were informed there would need to be considerations of cost throughout the build, noting that not all of the building was being refurbished and would remain in the current condition in certain places.

3.3 The contractors had been made aware that the budget was finite, and where issue arose there would need to be decisions made about how to make cost savings. There may be a need to engage staff and councillors to add finishing touches, with some having already offered painting and cleaning services.

4. Mechanical and Electrical Programme

Electrical

4.1 There would be a full building rewire, with the contractors making good in all areas. The electrical installation was being carried out by a subcontractor appointed via John West Contractors (Main contractor). Due to the delay in start of the rewiring, and ability to start works due to the scaffold license delays, there was need to renegotiate with the electrical subcontractor as costs had risen. In this renegotiation, the electrical subcontractor had challenged the electrical design included within the original specification and had advised that this scheme would not be possible within their original tendered cost. As a result, they suggested changes to the scheme. It was felt by the council's M+E designer that not all of these changes were sensible, despite the electrical subcontractor advising in their opinion the changes were cost neutral. The council's project manager felt that the materials and labour were a much cheaper option so there was confusion why this saving would not be passed on to the Town Council. negotiations concluded with agreement that inflationary increases to the original design would need to be allowed due to the delay in start, which is specified as part of the procurement process. Therefore, the original scheme design will be implemented.

Heating and ventilation

- 4.2 In order to achieve a cost saving, consideration was given to the existing ventilation units to see if they still had useable life, and could be retained; replacing only those that were broken. It was estimated that these existing units had 2-3 years life. The Deputy Town Clerk reiterate the climate change commitment, noting that the mechanical and electrical installation should be as sustainable as possible. It was later found that the cost saving was not sufficient to warrant the lack of efficiency, therefore, all heating units would be replaced.
- 4.3 A final review of the mechanical system and scheme design will be undertaken with subcontractors, designers and project leads to ensure the system meets the needs of the building whilst providing the most efficient and cost-effective system in terms of running costs. It is essential that there is flexibility to meet all potential building uses (i.e. zones to allow regulation of temperature between the old and new building and ability to switch off in areas that are not in use).

5. Roof and Stonework Repairs

5.1 Since the scaffold has been erected, there has been capacity to understand the full extent of the works required to the roof and stonework. An onsite survey meeting had taken place with the Structural Engineer, Stonemasons, Roofer and John West to look at the condition of the tower and the roof. This enabled the team

to understand the level of actual works required. The degrading of the stone was as bad as expected, resulting in the need to take down both gable walls as per the structural engineer's report. It was estimated that when rebuilding, 80% of the stone would need to be new. Furthermore, recommendation to apply protective stone wash on the building to give it a protective coat, and it was hoped this would extend the life of the stone 10-15 years. Loose stonework would be removed. Previous repairs were made with cement mortar, with evidence that the stone below the mortar is eroding. The whole building had been hammered, which had allowed for microfractures in the stone which was letting water in. Essential individual stone repairs to other areas of the building would also be undertaken.

5.2 Whilst the contingency sums had allowed for both gable walls to be taken down and rebuilt, the original estimated replacement of the stone was only 30%, however the stone is in much worse condition than expected. There would also be a need to replace walls ties within the tower. The level of works identified would require Listed Building Consent as new stone and ties would be used. The council's project manager confirmed that North Somerset Council's Conservation Officer was happy for a Listed Building Consent application be submitted after the works had begun on the tower to avoid further delay, as this is a health and safety issue. The gable walls were considered dangerous and the works were therefore urgent. Revised costs for the works to the tower were received totalling £72,736, with a £200 increase from the original budget of £72,905.

5.3 Members action required – further works needed outside of the original scheme for approval – (appendix attached additional cost of £16,583) An additional quote from the stonemasons has now been received regarding some additional but essential works required on the front elevation of the building. Whilst the stonework on the roof had been anticipated and a budget earmarked, the extent of damage on the front of the building was not visible until viewed from the scaffold. The additional works are not felt to be structural in nature, and therefore could potentially be delayed, however this would require additional scaffolding at a future date. It is therefore prudent and more practical to consider carrying out these works whilst the current scaffold is up to avoid future costs and the need for further licences and associated costs in doing so. The councils Quantity Surveyor has reviewed the current position on the works budget and it is not thought that the additional cost of £16,583.10 can be met within this budget as there are still too many provisional sums for the project that have not been confirmed due to the order of works together with increased costs due to inflation (electrical).

To undertake these works whilst the scaffold is in place under the current work programme would require approval to use General Reserves for the additional sum.

6. Signage

6.1 HQWG members were presented with 4 signage design concepts. The below was agreed as the preferred design.



6.2 The Deputy Town Clerk has worked with officers at NSC to ensure this meets requirements of their shop front design guide to ensure planning is met. Final drawings and details are being produced to enable submission of necessary permissions to NSC.

7. Artwork, heritage and civic items

7.1 The HQWG were provided with a catalogue of items currently in Grove House, as well as items currently being stored elsewhere. Before occupation, this will be reexplored and a programme devised of what will be placed where. Included within this are five tiled Rosie Smith painting, which members have agreed to homed in 32 Waterloo Street.

8. Timescales

8.1 With delays to scaffold license and necessary design of stone repairs, it is envisaged that the occupation of the premises will not be until early 2024.

Members are requested to:

- 1. Note the update report and intention to:
 - a. submit advertising permission for the exterior signage
 - b. Resubmit plans for the front ramp once all Highways conditions have been fully explored and considered
 - c. Submit retrospective Listed Building Consent for the stonework repairs which are considered urgent.

2. Approve the use of General Reserves to a value of £16,583.10 for additional stone works at 32 Waterloo Street to be undertaken within the current work programme of work.

Molly Maher & Sarah Pearse

Senior Development Officer / Deputy Town Clerk Drafted 8th September 2023 Amended 12th September 2023

| 32 Waterloo Street Front | | | | | | TOTAL | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------|------|------|--------|------------|
| Elevation Stonework | | | | | | | £16,583.10 |
| | | | | | | | |
| DESCRIPTION | | | | | | RATE | |
| | | | | | | | TOTAL |
| top lift | | | | | | | |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 356.00 | 356.00 |
| | | | | | | | |
| 2nd lift parapet | | | | | | | |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 475.00 | 475.00 |
| shelter coat | | | | | 1.00 | 475.00 | 475.00 |
| | | | | | 1.00 | 170.00 | 110.00 |
| 3rd lift | | | | | | | |
| boarders | 0.29 | 0.095 | 0.125 | 0.12 | 3.00 | 386.00 | 1158.00 |
| fluted pilasters | 0.265 | 0.075 | 0.280 | 0.20 | 3.00 | 363.00 | 1089.00 |
| mullion | 0.15 | 0.210 | 1.620 | 1.80 | 1.00 | 961.00 | 961.00 |
| string return | 0.49 | 0.140 | 0.120 | 0.29 | 1.00 | 474.00 | 474.00 |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 356.00 | 356.00 |
| | | | | | | | |
| <u>4th lift</u> | | | | | | | |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 238.00 | 238.00 |
| mullions | 0.15 | 0.120 | | | 1.00 | 252.00 | 252.00 |
| mullions | 0.15 | 0.120 | | | 3.00 | 323.00 | 969.00 |
| transom | 0.72 | 0.160 | 0.150 | 0.61 | 2.00 | 504.00 | 1008.00 |
| 5th lift | | | | | | | |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 356.00 | 356.00 |
| balusters | 0.16 | 0.160 | 0.540 | 0.49 | 6.00 | 640.00 | 3840.00 |
| plinth | 2.440 | | | | 1.00 | | |
| Ground floor | | | | | | | |
| defrass and joints | | | | | 1.00 | 356.00 | 356.00 |
| mullions | 0.15 | 0.120 | 0.470 | 0.30 | 1.00 | 252.00 | 252.00 |
| mullions | 0.15 | 0.120 | 0.780 | | 2.00 | 323.00 | 646.00 |
| transom | 0.13 | 0.120 | 0.150 | | 5.00 | 504.00 | 2520.00 |